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“defy description in their horror and thetr implicatoins for mankind’s
capacity to revert to acts of brutality under the stresses of conflict
“International Tribunal for the prosectuion of persons responsible for
serious violations of international humanitarian law committed in the
territary of former Yugoslavia since 1991, case No IT - 98 - 33- T,

August 2001, p. 1,252 .



FaA LN g b o all e e daSaad el GlaSa — ligh 5 daaf Laf

¢ A gl sl (e dpaall Uik AaSaall aSa Bed B (e (Sayg
‘R

leia ¢ el all (e dpaall sans 5l Qa5 55k o = Y
a5 ) 5 3) eSSl e g 1 Al 5 Layi® ZS y alae
Y

- O (4 58e Dla dasi el 3 S0

¢ (St Jal 4i58) il b asd ) cuaial agiall Jad of £ Lty
¢ & ay Loay4ale (4o iy 4 ¢ an aggravating factor farza ks aay
) by Al S5 ) B 13k dnny DY

Al Al W Lidue g9 (A o gall e e Lalad) AaSald il
Ol 5 Tl Sl Y (S5 5e e pSall e il of (Ul S
el b i ¢ Ll Lol
“The need to punish an individual for the crimes committed and
the need to deter other individulas from committing similar crimes” {Case
No. IT -98-33-T, 2 August 2001 , p. 243, para. 693).
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“General Krstic remained largely passive in the face of his
knowledge of what was going on .. he kept silent and even expressed
sentiments lionising the Bosnian serb campaign in serbrenica”
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8. The Execution of the Bosnian Muslim Men from Srebrenica
66. The Bosnian Muslim men who had been separated from the women, children
and elderly in Potoari (numbering approximately 1,000) were transported to
Bratunac and subsequently joined by Bosnian Muslim men captured from the
column. No discemible effort was made to keep the prisoners from Potocari and
the men captured from the column in woods separate, These men were l}leld in
various locations, such as an abandoned warehouse, ¢ an old school( ) and
even in the buses and trucks that had brought them there. * During the nights,
individual prisoners in Bratunac
were called out, and cries of pain and gunfire could be heard( )Aﬂer being
detained in Bratunac for between one and three days, the prisoners were
transported elsewhere, as the buses used to evacuate the women, children and
elderly from Potocari became available.
67. Almost to a man, the thousands of Bosnian Muslim prisoners captured,
following the takeover of Srebrenmica, were executed. Some were killed
individually or in small groups by the soldiers who captured them and some were
killed in the places where they were temporarily detained. Most, however, were
slaughtered in carefully orchestrated mass executions, commencing on 13 July
1995, in the region just north of Srebrenica. Prisoners not killed on 13 July 1995
were subsequently bussed to execution sites further north of Bratunac, within the
zone of responsibility of the Zvornik Brigade. The large-scale executions in the
north took place between 14 and 17 July 1995.
68. Most of the mass executions followed a well-established pattern. The men
were first taken to empty schools or warehouses. After being detained there for
some hours, they were loaded onto buses or trucks and taken to another site for
execution. Usually, the execution fields were in isolated locations. The prisoners
were unarmed and, in many cases, steps had been taken to minimise resistance,
such as blindfolding them, binding their wrists behind their backs with ligatures
or removing their shoes. Once at the killing fields, the men were taken off the
trucks in small groups, lined up and shot. Those who survived the initial round of
gunfire were individually shot with an extra round though sometimes only after
they had been left to suffer for a time. *) Immediately afterwards, and

(10)Witness N. T. 2801.

(11) Witness I, T. 2374

(12)Witness N. T. 2802; Witness 1, T. 2374 (old school).

(13)Witness L, T. 2668; Witness N. T. 28()4; Witness Q. T.2957; Witness I, T. 2377.

(14)See, e.g., Witness Q. T. 3033, 3035-3036; Witness L. T. 2690 (when a wounded man
at the Orahovac sitc asked to be finished off, the Serb soldier replied "slowly,

slowly™).
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sometimes even during the executions, earth moving equipment arrived
and the bodies were buried, either in the spot where they were killed or in
another nearby location.
69. At several of the sites, a few wounded people survived by pretending to be
dead and then crawled away. The Trial Chamber heard from some of these
survivors about their ordeals. It also heard from a member of the VRS who
particiPSated in one of the largest executions, which took place on 16 July
1995.(7)
70. In addition to being an unspeakable human evil, the decision to execute these
Bosnian
Muslim men is unfathomable in military terms. As Mr. Richard Butler (Chief
Warrant Officer Three All Source Intelligence Technician with the United States
Armmy), the Prosecution's military expert, pointed out:
it is hard to envision a better bargaining chip in

dealing with the political authorities of certainly the

BiH government and of the International Community

than having 10,000 to 15000 Muslim men in the

middle of Potocari in a legitimate prisoner of war

Jacility under the control or under the supervision of

certainly the UN troops that were there and the ICRC

at a point in time. That is the ultimate bargaining

chip, to be able to get significant political leverage

Jrom people, one would think, and this chip was

thrown away for another reason.

9. Forensic Evidence of the Executions

71. The extensive forensic evidence presented by the Prosecution strongly
corroborates important aspects of the testimony of survivors from the various
execution sites. Commencing in 1996, the Office of the Prosecutor (hereafter
"OTP") conducted exhumations of 21 gravesites associated with the take-over of
Srebrenica: four in 1996 (at Cerska, Nova Kasaba, Orahovac (also known as
Lazete 2) and Branjevo Military Farm (Pilica)); eight in 1998 (Petkovci Dam,
Cancari Road 12, Cancari Road 3, Hodzic'i Road 3, Hodzic'i Road 4, Hodzic'i
Road 5, Lipje 2, Zeleni Jadar 5), five in 1999 (lliéozluk, Nova Kasaba, Konjevic'
Polje 1, Konjevic Polje 2, and Glogova 2); (™ and four in 2000 (Lazete 1,

(15)See generally the discussion Infra paras. 195-253.

(16)See P 140 D. Manning, Srebvenica Investigation: Summary of Forensic Evidence-
Execution Points and Mass Graves, 16 May 2000 (hereafter "Manning Report") p.
00950906
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Lazete 2C,(n) Ravnice and Glogova 1). of the 21 gravesites exhumed, 14 were
primary gravesites, where bodies had been put directly after the individuals were
killed. Of these, eight were subsequently disturbed and bodies were removed and
reburied elsewhere often in secondary gravesites located in more remote
regions. *) Seven of the exhumed gravesites were secondaty burial sites. *) The
OTP retained ballistics, soil analysis and materials analysis, experts to
comparatively exami%e materials and residues found in the primary and
secondary gravesites.( ) As a result of these analyses, links were discovered
between certain primary gravesites and certain secondary gravesites and these
are considered in further detail below.

72. The Prosecution called eight witnesses to give evidence before the Tnal
Chamber about the exhumations and the resulting forensic ﬁndmgs( p) In
addition, the Trial Chamber received volumes of written reports prepared by the
experts who conducted the OTP investigations. In response, the Defence filed
two reports by a forensic expert, Dr. Zoran Stankovic'.(")

(17)This gravesite is part of the Lazete 2 site exhumed in 1996, but is treated as a separate
site for present purposes.

(18)Manning Report, p. 00950925 and D. Manning, Srebrenica Investigation: Summary
of Forensic Evidence-Mass Graves Exhumed in 2000, February 2001(hereafter
"Additional Manning Report") p 7601. The Additional Manning Report was filed
as part of the "Motion to Reopen the Prosecutor's Case for the Limited Purpose of
Introducing Four Expert Reports and a Summary Report of Fresh Exhumations
Evidence" dated 15 March 2001. The Trial Chamber issued an oral order that these
four expert's reports be admitted into evidence on 4 April 2001. See T. 9423. The
Report was subsequently tendered as P 897.

(19)Additional Manning Report, p. 7601.

(20)See P 144 (Laboratory Report on Automated Ballistic Comparison, prepared by
United States Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms, Forensic Science
Laboratory, 24 February 2000); P 179 (Statement of Antony G. Brown,
Palynologist 6 January 1998); P 180 (Statement of Antony G Brown, Palynologist
26 February 1999); P 143 (Report on Textile Investigation, prepared by Ing. S.E.
Maljaars, Ministy of Justice, Netherlands Forensic Institute, 11 February 2000).
Sec also Mr. Dean Manning (hereafter "Manning”), T. 3593.

(21)Professor Jose Baraybar (hereafter "Baraybar") T. 3781-3895; Professor Helge
Brunborg, (herecafter "Brunborg”) T. 4036-4100; Dr. John Clark, (hereafter
"Clark") T. 3896-3972; Professor William Haglund, (hereafter "Haglund") T.
3723-3780; Dr. Christopher Lawrence, (hercafter "Lawrence") T. 3974-4034;

-Manning, T. 3542-3626, 41414150; Mr. Jean-Rene Ruez, (hereafter "Ruez”) T.
3465-3541; and Professor Richard Wright, (hereafter -Wright"), T. 3632-3721.

(22)D 172 (Forensic Opinion dated 17 October 2000, by Doc. Dr. sc. Med. Zoran
Stankovic, Specialist in Forensic Medicine, permanent Expert for the area of
Forensic Medicine pursuant to Ruling No. 740/0373/98 of the Ministry of Justice
of Serbia, Institute of Forensic Medicine-VMA (hereafter " Stankovic Report") and
D 172 (Forensic Opinion dated 18 April 2001 by Doc. Dr. sc. Med. Zoran
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73. The forensic evidence supports the Prosecution’s claim that, following

the take-over of Srebrenica, thousands of Bosnian Muslim men were summarily
executed and consigned to mass graves. Although forensic experts were not able
to conclude with certainty how many bodies were in the mass-graves, due to the
level of decomposition that had occurred and the fact that many bodies were
mutilated in the process of being moved from primary to secondary graves by
mechanical equipment, the experts were able to conservatively &stima;g thata
minimum of 2,028 separate bodies were exhumed from the mass—graves.(

74. ldentity documents and belongings, found in most of the exhumed graves,
suggest that the victims were linked with Srebrenica. Among the itztzms found
were license cards and other papers with references to Srebrenica.{ ) In some
cases, investigators were able to positively identify bodies in the graves as
former Srebrenica residents on 2tshe basis of distinctzive personal items fo%nd with
the bodies such as jewellery,( ) artificial limbs! ) and photogmphs.( ) Other
artefacts found at the majority of the gravesites, such as verses from the Koran,
suggest the presence of victims with Muslim religious affiliation.() 1t is also of
note that the sex distribution of the persons listed as missing from Srebrenica, on
the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) list (crossreferenced with
other sources_)j correlates with the sex distribution of the bodies exhumed from
the graves. (™) Professor Helge Brunborg, a Prosecution demographics expert,
testified that the ove3rswhelming majority of people registered as missing from
Srebrenica are men.C) The forensic examinations of the gravesites associated
with Srebrenica reveal that only one of the 1,843 bodies for which sex could be

Stankovic, Specialist in Forensic Medicine, permanent Expert for the area of
Forensic Medicine pursuant to Ruling No. 740/0373/98 of the Ministry of Justice
of Serbia, Institute of Forensic Medicine-VMA, (hereafter "Additional Stankovic
Report").

(23)Additional Manning Report p. 7614.

(24)Manning, T. 3579-3580, 3588-3592. Identification items uncovered during the
exhumations conducted in 2000 further revealed the presence of individuals listed
as missing by the ICRC list cross-referenced with other sources. See Additional
Manning Report, p. 7600-7597.

(25)P 132/95, and P 132/9SA. See also Manning T. 3580-3582.

(26)P 132/93, and P 132/93A. See also Manning, T. 3583-3584.

(27)P 132/1, and P 132/18. See also Manning, T. 3589-3590, and 3592.

(28)p 132/110. See also Manning, T. 3588-3589. Artefacts demonstrating Muslim
religious affiliation were also identified in three of the gravesites exhumed in 2000.
Additional Manning Report pp. 7600-7597.

(29)Brunborg, T. 4071 .

(30)Brunborg, T- 4070
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determined was fema]e.(zl) Similarly, there is a correlation between the age
distribution of persons listed as missing and the bodies exhumed from the
Srebrenica graves: 26.4 percent of persons listed as missing were between 13-24
years and 17.5 percent of bodies exhumed fell within this age group; 73.6
percent of persons listed as missing were over 25 years of age and 82.8 percent
of bodies exhumed fell within this age group.(

75. The results of the forensic investigations suggest that the majority of bodies
exhumed were not killed in combat; they were killed in mass executions.
Investigators discovered at least 448 blindfolds gnor with the bodies uncovered
during the exhumations at ten separate snes( ) At least 423 ligatures were
located during exhumations at 13 separate sntes( ) Some of the hgatures we
made of cloth and string, but predominately they were made of wire. ) These
ligatures a blindfolds are inconsistent with combat casualties. The Prosecution
also relied on forensic eviden that the overwhelming majority of victims located
in the graves, for who a cause of death could

determined, were killed by gunshot wounds. @) The exhumations also revealed
that some of t victims were severely handicapped and, for that reason, unlikely to
have been combatants.(

76. Upon reviewing the Prosecution's forensic evidence, the Defence forensic

(31)Baraybar, T.3811-3812. Additional Manning Report, p. 7613.

(32)P 276 (H. Brunborg and H. Urdal, The Report'on the Number of Missing and Dead
from Srebrenica), p. 00926384, Figure 3. This figure only includes exhumations
conducted up to the year 2000.

(33)The sites were: the primary grave at Branjevo Military Farm and the related
secondary grave of Cancari Road 12; the primary grave at Orahovac (known as
Lazete 2), and the three connected secondary graves at Hodzic'i Road 3, Hodzic"
Road 4 and Hodzic'i Road 5; and the Kozluk grave and the associated secondary
grave at Cancari Road 3. Manning T.3569-3570. In addition, during the
exhumations conducted in 2000, blindfolds were found at Lazete 2C and Lazete 1.
Additional Manning Report, p. 7601.

(34)The sites were: the primary grave at Cerska; the primary grave of Nova Kasaba
exhumed in 1996; the primary gra of Orahovac (Lazete 2) and its related secondary
site of Hodzifi Road 5; the primary grave of Branjevo Military Farl and the related
secondary grave at Cancari Road 12; the primary site of Petkovci Dam and its
related site of Liplje 2; to- primary grave of Kozluk and its associated secondary
grave of Cancari Road 3; and the secondary site of Zeleni Jadar Manning, T. 3579-
3576. In addition, during the exhumations conducted in 2000, ligatures were found
at Lazete 2 and Glogova 1. Additional Manning Report, p 7601.

(35)Manning, T. 3576.

(36)Manning, T. 3565. The results of the additional exhumations conducted in 2000
continued to reflect this patter See Additional Manning Report.

(37)See e.g. P 219 (an individual with a prosthetic leg and his hands tied behind his back).
See generally, Lawrence, 3987-3989, and Clark, T. 3912-3913, 3939-3940.
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expert, Dr. ZorC Stankovic', argued that "some mass graves originated

from the bodies of the persons who lost the lives in mutual armed conflicts of the
warring sides, and that in some graves, where the cases z sure execution were
registered, there were also...bodies- killed in combat..".() He particular
criticised the methodology emplaogyed during some of the Prosecution's forensic
investigations in cause of death.(") Certainly, at those sites where no blindfolds
or ligatures were found durir exhumationsi the evidence that the victims were not
killed in combat was less compelling.( ) Significantly, some of the gravesites
located in the Nova Kasaba and Konjevic Polje area, when intense fighting took
place between the Bosnian Serb and Bosnian Muslim forces, on 12 and ] July
1995, were, amongst those where very few blindfolds and ligatures were
uncovered.( ) T} Defence expert, Dr. Stankovic' did not however,
fundamentally challenge the substantive findings 4 the Prosecution experts and
accepted that the exhumations were conducted by experts win "substantial
professiona}‘l2 experience and adequate technical, scientific and moral
integrity."(")

77. The Trial Chamber cannot rule out the possibility that a percentage of the
bodies in t} gravesites examined may have been of men killed in combat.
Overall, however, the forens evidence presented by the Prosecution is consistent
with the testimony of witnesses who appeare before the Trial Chamber and
recounted the mass execution of thousands of Bosnian Muslim men at Cerska
Valley, Krav1ca Warehouse, Orahovac, Branjevo Farm, Petkovci Dam and
Kozluk( )

78. Most significantly, the forensic evidence presented by the Prosecution also
demonstrates that, during a period of several weeks in September and early
October 1995, Bosnian Serb forces dug up many of the pn;14nary mass gravesites
and reburied the bodies in still more remote locations.( ) Forensic tests have
linked certain primary gravesites and certain secondary gravesites, namely:
Branjevo Military Farm and Cancari Road 12; Petkovci Dam and Liplje 2;

(38)Stankovic Report, p 13. See also Additional Stankovic' Report, p 8174.

(39)Stankovic Report, p 10- 11.

(40)Clark, T. 3958.

(41)Manning Report, T. p. 00950924. See also the Additional Manning Report p. 7606
(regarding the Ravnice pnma grave, which is also located close to the Konjevic
Polje to Bratunac Road, and in which no ligatures or blindfolds we uncovered. In
addition, this is an undisturbed primary gravesite, which further suggests that the
victims may have bet combat casualties. See the discussion Infra para. 78).

(42)Stankovic Report, at p. 11.

(43)The statistics relating to the forensic examinations conducted at these individual

gravesites will be considered more closely in the Part IIB
(44)Ruez, T- 3534,
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Orahovac (Lazete 2) and Hodzicti Road 5;Orahovac (Lazete 1) and Hodzicsti
Road 3 and 4; Glogova and Zeleni Jadar 5; and Kozluk and Cancari Road 3.(4 )
The reburial evidence demonstrates a concerted campaign to conceal the bodies
of the men in these primary gravesites, which was undoubtedly prompted by
increasing international scrutiny of the events following the take-over of
Srebrenica. Such extreme measures would not have been necessary had the
majority of the bodies in these primary graves been combat victims. The Trial
Chamber also notes that General Krstic' himself did not contest the exhumation
evidence presented by the Prosecution about the existence of the mass graves
containing the bodies of "victims of Srebrenica".(4 6) '

79. Overall the Trial Chamber finds that the forensic evidence presented by the
Prosecution provides corroboration of survivor testimony that, following the
take-over of Srebrenica in July 1995, thousands of Bosnian Muslim men from
Srebrenica were killed in careful and methodical mass executions.

(45)Manning, T. 3614-3615 and see also Additiona! Manning Report p. 7601.
(46)Krstic T. 6489
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1 n The Number of Men Executed by the Bosnian Serb Forces
Following the Take-over of Srebrenica in July 1995

80. It is impossible to determine with precision the number of Bosnian Muslim
men killed by Bosnian Serb forces following the take-over of Srebrenica in July
1995. During the course of the exhumations conducted by the OTP, the process
of identifying the number of bodies was complicated by the fact that, in the
course of being removed from primary gravesites to secondary gravesites, the
corpses were broken up and body parts became intermingled. However, as
already noted, experts were able to conservatively determine that the minimum
number of bodies in the graves exhumed was 2028. ) Although the Trial
Chamber cannot dismiss the possibility that some of the exhumed bodies were
killed in combat, it accepts that the majority of the victims wet executed.
Eighteen additional graves linked with Srebrenica have been located but not ye
exhumed. Based on preliminary examinations conducted by the OTP, all of these
sites contai human remains and it is expected that the total number of bodies
found and linked with Srebrenic will significantly increase as these sites are
exhumed.(“)

81. The number of people still listed as missing from Srebrenica in July 1995
provides furthe guidance as to the likely number of men executed. Professor
Brunborg testified that, conservative estimated, a minimum of 7,475 persons
from Srebrenica are still listed as missing, based on th cross-referencing of ICRC
lists and other sources and that it is likely that the vast majority of thes missing
people are deceased. ) In determining the number of people missing following
the take over of Srebrenica, checks were made to ensure that people who were
listed as missing prior to Jul 1995 were excluded. In particular, steps were taken
to exclude ABiH soldiers who were reported a killed, wounded, captured or
missing in action prior to July 1995 to the extent that was possible. I] over 180
cases, however, this could not be done with certainty due to a lack of adequate

(47)As Baraybar (a Prosecution forensic expert) pointed out, the minimum number of
individuals within the grave is a very conservative estiinate. Baraybar, T. 3811

(48)Baraybar, T. 3844. Four additional gravesites were exhumed in 2,000, reducing the
number of unexhumed site from 22 to 18. Prosecution experts estimate that a
minimum of 2,571 further bodies are located in probed, but as ye unexhumed
gravesites. On the basis of their investigations to date, the Prosecution estimates
that the total number ¢ bodies detected in the mass graves is 4,805. See Additional
Manning Report, p. 7614. This estimate was, howeve contested by the Defence.
See Additional Stankovic' Report, p. 8179.

(49)Brunborg, T. 4067. The final list prepared by the OTP refers to 7,481. This
discrepancy is explained by the fact th, information from the Internationa)
Committee of the Red Cross revealed that six people on the list have been foun
alive, but the ICRC was not at liberty to disclose the names.
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persona data about the missing persons. )
82. Nonetheless, the evidence given by witnesses, as corroborated by the

forensic ant demographics evidence presented by the OTP, strongly suggests that
well in excess of 7,000 peopl went missing following the take-over of
Srebrenica. The correlation between the age and sex of th bodies exhumed from
the Srebrenica graves and that of the missing persons support the propositio that
the majority of missing people were, in fact, executed and buried in the mass

graves.
83. There are other indications on the Trial Record that Bosnian Serb forces

executed thousand of Bosnian Muslim men following the take-over of
Srebrenica. Estimates of the number a prisoners detained and killed at diverse
locations throughout the Drina Corps zone of responsibilit between 13 and 16
July 1995 will be considered in Part IF B. There are also fragments c information
from VRS communications about the possible magnitude of the executions. A
intercepted conversation, at 1730 hours on 13 July 1995, indicates that about
6,000 men had bee captured from the Bosnian Muslim column by that time. )
Consistent with this, around 14 Jul) Colonel Radislav Jankovic' (from the VRS
Main Staff), during a conversation with a Dutch Bat officer about the attempted
breakthrough by the 28th Division, stated that the VRS had already taken 6,000
prisoners of war( ) Other mtercepted VRS conversations reveal that, on 15 July
1995, midway through the executions, at least 3,000-4,000 Bosnian Muslim
prisoners were being detained by the VRS( ) Further, on 18 July 1995, two
unidentified Bosnian Serbs were heard in an intercepted conversation reflecting
on the recent events in Eastern Bosnia, including matters relating to the Bosnian
Muslim column.C) One participant said that of the 10,000 military aged men
who were in Srebrenica, "4,000-5,000 have certainly kicked the bucket". Mr
Butler pointed out that this number was too high to refer only to combat
casualties and concluded that this ﬁgure must include the men who were
executed in the zone of the Zvornik Brigade. *)

84. The Trial Chamber is satisfied that, in July 1995, following the take-over of
Srebrenica, Bosnian Serb forces executed several thousand Bosnian Muslim

(50)Brunborg, T. 4078-4079.

(51)p 523.

(52)Franken, T. 2050.

(53)P 478 (A conversation intercepted at 1000 hours in which Colonel Beara stated he
still had 3,500 "parcels” to distribute.); P 675 (Interim Combat Report dated 18
July 1995, sent by the Commander of the Zvornik Brigade stating that "someone
brought in 3,000 Turks of military age and placed them in schools in the
municipality”).

(54)P684.

(55)Butler, T. 5205
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men. The total number is likely to be within the range of 7,000 -8,000

men.

11. A Plan to Execute the Bosnian Muslim Men of Srebrenica

85. A concerted effort was made to capture all Muslim men of military age. In
fact, those captured included many boys well below that age and elderly men
several years above that age that remained in the enclave following the take-over
of Srebrenica. These men and boys were targeted regardiess of whether they
chose 1o flee to Potocari or to join the Bosnian Muslim column. The operation to
capture and detain the Bosnian Muslim men was well organised and
comprehensive. The Trial Chamber did, however, hear evidence of some
exceptions to this general plan. In particular, on 15 and 16.July 1995, during
intensive combat between the Bosnian Muslim column and the Zvornik Brigade,
the Commander of that Brigade, Colonel Pandurevic', without consultation with
his superiors, made a decision to let a portion of the men in the armed head of
the Bosnian Muslim column through to Tuz]a( )However this decision was
apparently made out of desperation and in light of the Zvornik Brigade' s
inability to contain the column.

86. There is also evidence that some wounded Bosnian Muslim men were
accorded proper treatment and evacuated under medical supcrvnslon( )Thls
argued the Defence, was evidence that the Bosnian Serb forces did not intend to
kill all of the military aged Bosnian Mushms of Srebrenica, but rather only those
who posed a potential military threat( )The treatment accorded to these men
stands out as an anomaly in the treatment of the Bosnian Muslim men following
the take-over of Srebrenica in July 1995. It may perhaps be explained, to some
degree, as a strategy on the part of the Bosnian Serbs to avoid attracting
international suspicion, especially given that UN personnel were present in the
enclave watching the treatment accorded to some of these wounded men in the
first few days after the take-over of Srebrenica. For example, on 13 July, a report
prepared by Colonel Jankovic' of the Main Staff noted that over 50 wounded
Bosnian Muslims had been placed in the Bratunac‘hospital and that an
UNPROFOR officer had stayed at the hospital to ensure the men were accorded
proper treatment. Colonel Jankovic', however, was determined to " send him
away tomorrow, under the pretext that his help is not necessary. "]( The

(56)Butler, T. 5105, 5128-5120, 5520-5522

(57).. Butler, T. 5513.

(58)Final Submissions of the Accused, 21 June 2001 (hereafier "Defence Final Brief"),
para. 140.

(59)P 459. Colonel Jankovic' further noted "I think if we want to take over the enclaves of
Zepa and Gorazde in the same way. it will be necessary 1o present the operation in
Srebrenica in the media, so as to show that we had rendered adequate treatment to
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evidence that a small number of wounded Bosnian Muslims were accorded
proper treatment does not diminish the overwhelming evidence showing that the
Bosnian Serb forces went to great lengths to seize Bosnian Muslim men at
virtually every opportunity, whether or not they posed a military threat, )
collected them together in detention centres and subsequently executed them.

87. The Trial Chamber finds that, following the take over of Srebrenica in July
1995, the Bosnian Serbs devised and implemented a plan to execute as many as
possible of the military aged Bosnian Muslim men present in the enclave.

12. Widespread Knowledge of the Crimes

88. As early as 14 July 1995, reports of missing Bosman Muslim men from
Srebrenica began to surface in the international media. ) Around 15 July 1995,
Witness DE, a Drina Corps officer, saw a television film clip showing capturgzd
men on a football pitch, presumably Nova Kasaba, while visiting Be]grade.( )
By 18 July 1995, news of the missing Bosnian Muslims from Srebrenica had
become so widespread that the UN Secretariat wrote to the Special
Representative of the Secretary

General in Bosnia stating: )
You will, no doubt, have read and heard the extensive

reports of atrocities committed by the Bosnian Serbs
during their recent take-over of Srebrenica. While many of
these reports emerge from refugees, they are widespread

the civilians, and even to soldiers who surrendered their weapons.” There is
evidence that, following the period of .the mass-executions, wounded Bosnian
Muslim men, who were in VRS custody, were properly treated. In a
communication on 17 July 1995, the Commander of the Zvornik Brigade sought
assistance from the Drina Corps Command to arrange for the removal of wounded
Bosnian Muslim prisoners from the Bratunac health centre to Bijeljina. See P 370.
Mr. Butler also testified that, by 22 July 1995, the policy of executing the Muslim
prisoners had been abandoned. See Butler, T. 5233-5234, 5340, 5525-5526. Such a
policy change is not surprising. By this time, word that the Bosnian Serbs had
orchestrated mass executions of Bosnian Muslim men following the take-over of
Srebrenica had been widely publicized

(60)See for example, the discussion Infra para. 216 about the capture of Bosnian Muslim
men from buses at Tisc'a.

(61)See e.g. P 113-3, dated 14 July 1995 (story from China); P 114/1, dated 17 July 1995
(story from Banja Luka entitled "Zametica Denies Maltreatment of Srebrenica
Muslims"); P 113/5, dated 24 July 1995, (story entitled "Mazowiecki on Serb
Human Rights Abuses re Srebrenica Missing”; P 113/6 dated 27 July 1995 (story
regarding Mazowiecki's resignation as UN envoy on the grounds that he could no
longer take part in the "fictional” defence of human rights in the former

Yugoslavia).
(62)Defence Witness DE, T. 7736
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and consistent, and have been given credence by a variety
of international observers, including UNHCR. )
89.Shortly thereafter, the missing Bosnian Muslim men became a factor in the
negotiations between the VRS and the ABiH at Zepa, the other UN 'safe area"
that had come under attack by the VRS on 14 July 1995, following the take-over
of Srebrenica. During the course of negotiations between the opposing parties at
Zepa, Bosnian Muslim representatives wanted guarantees that the men who were
evacuated would be transported in safety and specifically cited the missing men
of Srebrenica as an example of why the Bosnian Serb authorities could not be
trusted.C) The Bosnian Muslim representatives refused Bosnian Serb demands
for an " all for all " prisoner-exchange until the Bosnian Serbs accounted for the
6,800 men they believed were missing from Srebrenica at that time. *)
13. The Impact of the Crimes on the Bosnian Muslim Community of
Srebrenica

90. The impact of these events on the Bosnian Muslim community of Srebrenica
has been catastrophic. Most families were dismembered and irreparably rent. In
the words of one former Srebrenica resident:

With the fall of Srebrenica . . . from the face of the earth were

wiped off three generations of men in the cruellest way

possible. I can corroborate it by a fresh example frommy

Jarnily. My fatherin-law, Omer Malagic’, born in 1926, his

three sons, one of whom was my husband, Salko Malagic',

born in 1948. His two brothers, Osman Malagic', born in

1953; Dzafer Malagic' born in 1957. His three grandsons,

that is my two sons Elvir Malagic' born in 1973; Admir

Malagic' born in 1979- and my brother-in-law's son, Samir

Malagic"s son, born in 1975. There are hundreds of such

Jamilies in Srebrenica... )
91. In a patriarchal society, such as the one in which the Bosnian Muslims

of Srebgenica _
lived,(6 ) the elimination of virtually all the men has made it almost impossible

(63)Secretary-General's Report, para. 390.

(64)Secretary-General's Report, para. 416.

(65)Secretary-General's Report, para. 400.

(66)Malagic', T. 1983-84.

(67)Witness DD, T. 5778 (testifying that her husband was the head of the household and
was responsible for decision making on most matters, including the financial
affairs of the family. Witness DD also testified that this system was typical of all
families living in her community); Ms. Jasna Zecevic', (hereafter "Zecevic),
T.5776, 5778-5779. (The witness, the director of Vive Zene (a non-governmental
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for the Bosnain Muslim women who survived the take-over of Srebrenica to
successfully re-establish their lives. Often, as in the case of Witness DD, the
women have been forced to live in collective and makeshift accommodations for
many years, with.a dramatically reduced standard of living. ) The pain and fear
associated with having so many loved ones torn away makes it very difficult for
those who survived to think of returning home (even if that were possible in
practical terms) or even to exist as a cohesive family unit. In Witness DD's

words:
...sometim%s 1 also think it would be better if none of us had survived. 1 would

prefer it. )
The director of Vive Zene, a non-governmental organisation that provides
psychosocial support for many women and children who survived the take-over
of Srebrenica, testified that the vast majority of Bosnian Muslim women
refugees have been unable to find employment( Further, women forced to
become the head of their households following the take-over of Srebrenica have
great difficulties w1th the unfamiliar tasks of conducting official family business
in the public sphere. @
92. Similarly, the adolescent survivors from Srebremca face significant hurdles
as they enter adult-hood. Few are employed( ) and returning to Srebrenica is
not something these young people even talk about. As the Director of Vive Zene
explained:

. .their dream is just to go outside, far away from Bosnia. Just that. ®)
Younger children who survived the take-over of Srebrenica have also developed
adjustment 7Prob]ems such as low levels of concentration, nightmares and
flashbacks.(') Thé absence of male role models is another factor that will
inevitably have mgmﬁcant nnphcatlons for Bosnian Muslim children from
Srebrenica in years to come.
93. The Trial Chamber heard that the survivors of Srebrenica have unique
impediments to their recovery and staff members at Vive Zene speak of the

- organisation that provides psychosocial support for many Bosnian Muslim women
and children who survived the take-over of Srebrenica) described the pre-war
Srebrenica community as having a traditional patriarchal structure.)

(68)Witness DD, T. 5759-5760; Zecevic', T. 5779-5784.

(69)Witness DD, T. 5761. See also Zecevic', T. 5791-5793.

(70)Zecevic, T. 5783-5784

(71)Zecevic', T. 5787.

(72)Zecevic, T. 5791.

(73)Zecevic', T. 5797

(74)Ms.Teufika Ibrahimefendic' (hereafter "Ibrahimefendic), (coordinator of the Vive
Zene multidisciplinary team), T. 5820-5826.

(75)Zecevic', T. 5797.
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"Srebrenica Syndrome" as a new pathology category.(76) One of the
primary factors giving rise to the syndrome is that, with few exceptions, the fate
of the survivor' s loved ones is not officially known: the majority of men of
Srebrenica are still listed as missing. For Bosnian Muslim women it is essential
to have a clear marital status, whether widowed, divorced or married: a woman
whose husband is missing does not fit within any of these categories.( )
Moreover, on a psychological level, these women are unable to move forward
with the process of recovery without the closure that comes from knowing with
certaintys what has happened to their family members and properly grieving for
them. (") The Trial Chamber also heard of the collective guilt experienced by
women because they ggxrvived the events in Potocari and their husbands, brothers
and fathers did not.{) The level of trauma experienced by the women and
children who were transported out of Srebrenica was assessed by Vive Zene as
being "exceptionally high" and this, in large part, was attributed to the fact that
the women_ and men had been separated following the take-over of
Srebrenica.( ) This heartbreak and anguish is no better reflected than in the
words of Witness DD whose young son was torn away from her in Potocari:
..1 keep dreaming about him. 1 dream of him bringing flowers and saying,
"Mother, I've come" I hug him and say, "nglere have you been, my son?" and he
says, "I've been in Vlasenica all this time". )
94. When asked why he thought the mass executions of Bosnian Muslim men
took place
following the take-over of Srebrenica, General Halilovic' suggested that:

Methodologically speaking, Srebrenica is no different from

some other parts of BosniaHerzegovina. It is true that it is

significantly different in terms of the numbers of people that

were executed. As to why it took place in the Drina River

valley, 1 think the reasons can be found in the decisions issued

by the Serbian Assembly in Banja Luka...l think that today

there are more than 60 settlements of Bosniak population

mainly who wish to go back to their homes, but those who

were executed no longer have any chance of going back home,

and that area was removed from the face of the earth. It was

cleansed... and [it was] an area which was between two Serb

(76)Ibrahimefendic’, T. 5817-5818.

(77) Zecevic', T. 5785-5786.

(78) Zecevic', T. 5792.

(79)Zecevic', T. 5793; Ibrahimefendic', T. 5841.
(80)Teufika Ibrahimefendic', T. 5814-5813,
(81)Witness DD, T. 5769
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82
states.( )

14. Conclusions

95. Almost without exception, the witnesses who appeared before the Trial
~ Chamber did not seriously contest that, following the take-over of Srebrenica,
the mass Kkillings described above actually occurred outside of combat activities
and on the basis of orders given by high level Bosnian Serb officers or
officials. *) Nonetheless, in the words of Nuremberg Prosecutor Telford Taylor,
it is "important that these incredible events be established by clear and &Pubhc
proof, so that no one can ever doubt that they were fact and not fable..." O eis
therefore imperative to document these "incredible events" in detail.

(82)Halilovic'. T. 9500

(83)Cy however, the comments of the Defence mlhtary expert, General Radinovic', "Mass
casualties on the Muslim side are a result of actions which should be classified as
combat activities, and not violence against civilians" D 160 (Prof. Dr. Radovan
Radinovic', Military Expert Testimony of Srebrenica, 17 October 2000. (hereafter
"Radinovic' Report"), para. 5.9.

(84)Trials of War Criminals before the Nuernberg Military Tribunals under Control
Council Law No. 10, Nuernberg, October 1946-April 1949, Volume I, p. 27.
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D. Conclusions
419. Taking control of the Middle Podrinje area was a critical element of the
Bosnian Serb strategy for military victory. At the time the removal of the
Bosnian Muslim civilians from the enclave took place, General Krstic' was Chief
of Staff of the Drina Corps, which was formed specifically for the purpose of
pursuing Bosnian Serb territorial goals in Middle Podrinje. Despite his efforts to
present himself as a soldier with no interest in politics and no ethnic hatreds, the
Trial Chamber does not accept that General Krstic' was disinterested in measures
being taken to cleanse the area of Bosnian Muslims. Certainly, General Krstic'
was not a reluctant participant in the transportation of the Bosnian Muslim
population out of the enclave, on 12 and 13 July 1995, although he appeared
concemed to ensure that the operation was conducted in an orderly fashion. He
simply wanted the civilian population out of the area and he had no interest in
mistreating them along the way.
420. Additionally, the evidence presented to the Trial Chamber does not support
the notion that General Krstic himself ever envisaged that the chosen method of
removing the Bosnian Muslims from the enclave would be to systematically
execute part of the civilian population. Rather, General Krstic' appears as a
reserved and serious career -officer who is unlikely to have ever instigated a plan
such as the one devised for the mass execution of Bosnian Muslim men,
following the take-over of Srebrenica in July 1995. Left to his own devices, it
seéms doubtful that General Krstic' would have been associated with such a plan
at all. one Defence witness testified that, as news of the breakthrough by the
Bosnian Muslim column filtered in, General Krstic' said to him "Let them pass,
just so that this can be ended as it should."("10
421. Nonetheless, in July 1995, General Krstic' found himself squarely in the
middle of one of the most heinous wartime acts committed in Europe since the
Second World War. The plan to execute the Bosnian Muslim men may not have
been of his own making, but it was carried out within the zone of responsibility
of the Drina Corps. Furthermore Drina Corps resources were utilised to assist
with the executions from 14 July 1995 onwards. By virtue of his position as
Drina Corps Commander, from 13 July 1995, General Krstic' must have known
about this.
422. The Prosecution's case against General Krstic' was based on layer upon
layer of circumstantial evidence as well as critical pieces of direct evidence,
which reveals his developing knowledge of, and participation in, the executions.
Although, on 11 or 12 July 1995, he had been appointed as Commander of the
new VRS operation against Zepa, General Krstic' remained informed of events

(1110) Defence Witness DA, T.6928- 6929.
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occurring back in Srebrenica. General Krstic' attended two meetings at the Hotel
Fontana with General Mladic', relating to the fate of the Bosnian Muslim
civilians from Srebrenica. Furthermore, he was involved in organising the
transport of the Bosnian Muslim civilians from Potocari and, on 12 July 1995,
was present in Potocari while the transportation operation was being carried out.
General Krstic' remained fully informed of matters relating to the Bosnian
Muslim column, including the capture and detention of the prisoners.

423. Although there is little evidence linking General Krstic' directly with the
activity occurring in the Srebrenica area on 13 and 14 July 1995, the evidence
shows that he was fully aware of these events. On 14 July 1995, General Krstic'
was contacted about the crisis facing the Zvomik Brigade, which was
simultaneously engaged in heavy combat with the armed head of the Bosnian
Muslim column and trying to cope with the thousands of prisoners detained in
schools throughout Zvornik. He immediately sent Colonel Pandurevic and his
men back from Zepa to their zone of responsibility. General Krstic' knew frilill
well the reasons for this urgent recall. In the following days, Colonel Pandurevic'
reported back to the Drina Corps Command about the situation facing his
Brigade, including matters relating to the prisoners and the executions.
Furthermore, on 15 July 1995, when Colonel Beara contacted him to inform him
that the Main Staff was unable to secure enough troops to continue with the
executions, General Krstic' chose to farther assist in the commission of the
crimes. On 15 July 1995, thousands of prisoners were still alive; had General
Krstic' intervened at even that late date they might have been saved.




H. Criminal Responsibilitv of General Krstic
1. Introduction

600. The Prosecution alleges that General Krstic' is criminally responsible for his

participation in the crimes charged in the indictment, pursuant to Article 7(1) of

the Statute,"**” which states that:

A person who planned, instigated, ordered, committed or otherwise aided and

abetted in the planning, preparation or execution of a crime referred toin

articles 2 to 5 of the present Statute, shall be individually responsible for the

crime.

6()1. The Trial Chambers of the ICTY and the ICTR and the Appeals Chamber

of the ICTY have identified the elements of the various heads of individual

criminal responsibility in Article 7(1) of the Statute. "**” The essential findings

in the jurisprudence may be briefly summarised as follows:

"Planning” means that one or more persons design the commission of a crime at

both the preparatory and execution phases'**";

- "Instigating" means prompting another to commit an offence;**?

- "Ordering" entails a person in a position of authority using that position to

convince another to commit an offence;***)

"Committing”" covers physically perpetrating a crime or engendering a culpable

omission in violation of criminal law;"**¥

- "Aiding and abetting" means rendering a substantial contribution to the

commission of a crime; ***and

"Joint criminal enterprise” liability is a form of criminal responsibility which the
. Appeals Chamber found to be implicitly included in Article 7(1) of the Statute. It

entails individual responsibility for participation in a joint criminal enterprise to

(1339) Para. 18 of the Indictment. In its Final Trial Brief (para. 27), the Prosecution
makes reference to each head - except "cormnitting” - mentioned in Article 7(1) as
well as the "common purpose doctrine” (discussed below) as a basis for General
Krstic's guilt. )

(1340) Cue Article 6(1) of the Statute of the ICR. In its Final Trial Brief (para. 3), the
Prosecution incorporates by reference its submissions on Article 7 in its Pre-Trial
Brief (paras 13-86). Likewise, the Defence's submissions on Article 7 in its Pre-
Trial Brief (paras 13-29) are incorporated in its Final Trial Brief (para. 2).

(1341) Akayesu Judgement, para. 480; Blaskic Judgement, para 279; Kordic and Cerkez
Judgement, para. 386.

(1342) Akayesu Judgement, para. 482; Blasvkic' Judgement, para. 280; Kordic'and
Cerkez Judgement, para. 387.

(1343) Akayesu Judgement, para. 483; Blaswkic' Judgement, para. 281; Kordic' and
Cerkez Judgement, para.388.

(1344) Tadic' Appeal Judgement, para. 188; Kunarac et al. Judgement, para.390.

(1345) Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, paras. 162-164.
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(1346)

commit a crime;
602. Since the Prosecution has not charged any specific head of criminal
responsibility under Article 7(1) of the Statute, (1347 it is within the discretion of
the Trial Chamber to convict the Accused under the appropriate head within the
limits of the Indictment and fair notice of the charges and insofar as the evidence
permits"**® As to joint criminal enterprise liability, in its Final Trial Brief the
Defence contends that it is not open to the Trial Chamber to apply this doctrine
because it has not been pleaded in the Indictment. The Trial Chamber rejects this
subrnission. The Prosecutor's Pre-trial Brief discussed this form of liability,
specifically in the context of ethnic cleansing; ** the Defence acknowledged
this pleading in its Pre-trial Brief and did not object to the concept itself but only
to some details of the legal submissions on the matter."**” Moreover, the Trial
Chamber finds that the "nature and cause of the charge against the accused"”
pleaded in the indictment contains sufficient references to his responsibility for
the alleged crimes committed in concert with others.(**?

603. The Prosecution "also, or alternatively" alleges that General Krstic' incurs

(1346) Tadic' Appeal Judgement, paras. 185-229. The Appeals Chamber in the Tadic'
Appeal Judgement interchangeably used several other terms, such as "common
purpose" liability (Tadic' Appeal Judgement, para. 220), to denote the same form
of participation. For reasons discussed below, the Trial Chamber proposes to
apply the label “joint criminal enterprise” throughout this Judgement. Trial
Chamber II recently discussed joint criminal enterprise liability in detail in
Prosecutor v. Radoslav Brdanin and Momir Talic', Decision on Form of Further
Amended Indictment and Prosecution Application to Amend, Case No. 1T-99-36-
PT, 26 June 2001 (the "Talic'Decision"). ’

(1347) The Trial Chamber notes in this regard that the Appeals Chamber held that:
"Although greater specificity in drafting indictments is desirable, failure to
identify expressly the exact mode of participation is not necessarily fatal to an
indictment if it nevertheless makes clear to the accused the znature and cause of
the charge against him™. tfelebici Appeal Judgement, para. 351.

(1348) Furundzija Judgement, para. 189; Kupreskic' Judgement, para. 746; Kunarac et al.
Judgement, para. 388.

(1349) Prosecutor's Pre-trial Brief, paras. 21-27. The Prosecution refers to joint criminal
enterprise liability as "coperpétration”; the Appeals Chamber has in fact employed
this term in this sense (Tadic' Appeal Judgement, paras. 196, 228; Furundzvija
Appeal Judgement, para. 118). The Prosecution further considers "co-
perpetration” to be a form of "committing".

(1350) Defence's Pre-trial Brief, paras. 18-19.. See also para. 21 of the Prosecutor’s Pre-
trial Brief annexed to the Prosecutor's Submission of Agreed Matters of Law
Presented During the Pre-trial Conference of 7 March 2000, dated 8 March 2000.
On the Defence' s objection to the joint criminal enterprise doctrine, see para. ??

supra.
(1351) See Indictment, e.g., paras. 6-11.
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"command responsibility" for the crimes charged in the Indictment
pursuant to Article 7(3) of the Statute.**? Pursuant to this provision:
The fact that any of the acts referred to in articles 2 to 5 of the present Statute
was cormnitted by a subordinate does not relieve his superior of criminal
responsibility if he knew or had reason to know that the subordinate was about
to commit such acts or had done so and the superior failed to take the necessary
and reasonable measures to prevent. such acts or to punish the perpetrators
thereof.
604. According to the case law, **® the following three conditions must be met
before a person can be held responsible for the acts of another person under
Article 7(3) of the Statute:
- The existence of a superior-subordinate relationship ;
- The superior knew or had reason to know that the criminal act was about to be
or had been committed; and
The superior failed to take the necessary and reasonable measures to prevent the
criminal act or punish the perpetrator thereof.
605. The facts pertaining to the commission of a crime may establish that the
requirements for criminal responsibility under both Article 7(1) and Article 7(3)
are met. However, the Trial Chamber adheres to the belief that where a
commander participates in the commission of a crime through his subordinates,
by "planning”, "instigating”" or "ordering" the commission of the crime, any
responsibility under Article 7(3) is subsumed under Article 7(1).%%* The same
applies to the commander who incurs criminal responsibility under the joint
criminal enterprise doctrine through the physical acts of his subordinates.
2. The criminal responsibility of General Krstic' for the crimes proved at
v trial
606. The Trial Chamber will now turn to the criminal responsibility of General
Krstic' for the crimes proved at trial. The following discussion distinguishes
between two sets of crimes:
- The humanitarian crisis and crimes of terror committed at Potocari and the
subsequent forcible transfer of the womeli, children and elderly; and
- The mass executions of the military-aged Muslim men from Srebrenica.
a) General Krstic"s responsibility for the crimes committed at Potocari
607. The Trial Chamber characterises the humanitarian crisis, the crimes of
terror and the forcible transfer of the women, children and elderly!**® at Potocari

(1352) Para. 19 of the Indictment.
(1353) See, e.g., Blaskic'Judgement, para. 294; Kunarac et al. Judgement, para. 395.
(1354) Likewise, Kayishema and Ruzindana Judgement, para. 223; Blasvkic Judgement,

para. 337.
(1355) Paras. 38-51, 337.
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(1356

as constituting crimes against humanity, that is, persecution and inhumane

acts.“””

608. The evidence establishes that General Krstic', along with others, played a
significant role in the organisation of the transportation of the civilians from
Potocari. Specifically, the Trial Chamber has concluded that, on 12 July, General
Krstic ordered the procurement of buses and their subsequent departure carrying
the civilians from Potocari. At some later stage, he personally Inquired about the
number of buses alresy en rout. The Trial chamber has akso found that General
Krstic' ordered the securing of the road from Luke to Kladanj up to the tunnel
where the people on the buses were to disembark. 1t has farther been established
that General Krstic' knew that this was a forcible, not a voluntary, transfer.(3%®
609. The Trial Chamber has similarly concluded that General Krstic' was fully
aware of the ongoing humanitarian crisis at Potocari as a result of his presence at
the hotel Fontana meeting, on It July at 2300 hours, where General Mladic' and
Colonel Karremans of Dutchbat discussed the urgency of the situation, and, at
the meeting on 12 July, when General Mladic' decided that the VRS would
organise the evacuation of the Bosnian Muslim women, children and elderly.
Following this meeting, General Krstic was present himself at Potocari, for one
to two hours, thus he could not help but be aware of the piteous conditions of the
civilians and their mistreatment by VRS soldiers on that day.**

610. In light of these facts, the Trial Chamber is of the view that the issue of
General Krstic"s criminal responsibility for the crimes against the civilian
population of Srebrenica occurring at Potocari is most appropriately determined
under Article 7(1) by considering whether he participated, along with General
Miadic' and key members of the VRS Main Staff and the Drina Corps, in a joint
criminal enterprise to forcibly "cleanse" the Srebrenica enclave of its Muslim
population and to ensure that they left the territory otherwise occupied by
Serbian forces. '

611. According to the Appeals Chamber in the Tadico Appeal Judgement, for

joint criminal enterprise liability to arise, three actus reds elements require proof:
(1360)

(i) A plurality of persons;
(ii) Tbe existence of a common plan, which amounts to or involves the

commission of a crime

(1356) Murder, cruel and inhumane treatment (including terrorization, destruction of
personal property and forcible transfer) - count 6.

(1357) Forcible transfer - count 8.

(1358) Supra paras. 340, 344.

(1359) Supra paras. 340, 354

(1360) Tadic Appeal Judgement, para- 227
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provided for in the Statute; the Appeals Chamber specified that (1361)

There is no necessity for this plan, design or purpose to have been previously
arranged or formulated. The common plan or purpose may materialist
extemporaneously and be inferred from the fact that a plurality of persons acts in
unison to put into effect a joint criminal enterprise.

(iii) Participation of the accused in the execution of the common plan,

(136)5therwise formulated as the accused's "membership" in a particular joint
(1363)

criminal enterprise.
612. The facts described in the preceding paragraphs compel the inference that
the political and/or military leadership of the VRS formulated a plan to
permanently remove the Bosnian Muslim population from Srebrenica, following
the take-over of the enclave. From 11 through 13 July, this plan of what is
colloquially referred to as "ethnic cleansing" was realised mainly through the
forcible transfer of the bulk of the civilian population out of Potocari, once the
military aged men had been separated from the rest of the population. General
Krstic' was a key participant in the forcible transfer, working in close co-
operation with other military officials of the VRS Main Staff and the Drina
Corps. ®** The actus reds requirements for joint criminal enterprise liability
therefore have been met.

613. In defining the intent requirement, or mens rea, of joint criminal entérprise
liability, the Appeals Chamber has distinguished between crimes committed in
the execution of the agreed upon objectives of the criminal enterprise and crimes
upon which the participants had not agreed but

which were a natural and foreseeable consequence of the plan. ¢ In this
regard, the Trial Chamber notes that Trial Chamber Il interpreted the relevant
portion of the Tadic Appeal Judgement as follows: **”

(1361)Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 227(ii). The Appeals Chamber reaffirmed this
statement in the Furundzija Appeal Judgement, para. 119.

(1362) The Prosecution submits that it is not required that each participant fulfils different
elements of the actus revs of the crime; it suffices that each panicipant makes an
essential contribution to the execution of the crime (Prosecutor's PreTrial Brief,
para. 23). In this respect, the Defence formulates its reservation to the joint
criminal enterprise doctrine as follows: "it is necessary [...] to specify among the
actus rei each individual act committed by each perpetrator.” (Defence's Pre-Trial
Brief, para. 18).

. (1363) Talic' Decision, para. 43.

(1364) Supra para. 344.

(1365) Tadic'Appeal Judgement, para. 228.

(1366) Talic' Decision, para. 31 (emphasis in original). Since members of the joint
criminal enterprise may incur liability for crimes committed by other members
which fall outside the object of the common plan, the Trial Chamber agrees that
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The state of mind of the accused to be established by the prosecution accordingly
differs according to whether the crime charged:

(a) was within the object of the joint criminal enterprise, or

(b) went beyond the object of that enterprise, but was nevertheless a natural and
foreseeable consequence of that enterprise.

If the crime charged fell within the object of the joint criminal enterprise, the
prosecution must establish that the accused shared with the person who
personally perpetrated the crime the state of mind required for that crime. If the
crime charged went beyond the object of the joint criminal enterprise, the
prosecution needs to establish only that the accused was aware that the further
crime was a possible consequence in the execution of that enterprise and that,
with that awareness, he participated in that enterprise.

614. In order to determine whether General Krstic' had the requisite mens rea for
responsibility to arise under the joint criminal enterprise doctrine, the Trial
Chamber must determine which crimes fell within and which fell outside the
agreed object of the joint criminal enterprise to ethnically cleanse the Srebrenica

enclave.
615. The object of the joint criminal enterprise implemented at Potocari on 12

and 13 July was firstly the forcible transfer of the Muslim civilians out of
Srebrenica. That General Krstic' had the intent for this crime is indisputably
evidenced by his extensive participation in it. Furthermore, the humanitarian
crisis that prevailed at Potocari was so closely connected to, and so instrumental
in, the forcible evacuation of the civilians that it cannot but also have fallen
within the object of the criminal enterprise. When General Krstic' marched
triumphantly into Srebrenica alongside General Mladic' on 11 July, he saw the
town completely empty and soon found out, at least by the evening, that a huge
number of the inhabitants had fled to Potocari and were crowded together in the
UN compound and sgrrounding buildings. Although, by his own claim, he was
the organiser of the military operation on Srebrenica, he had taken no action to
provide food or water, nor to guarantee the security of the civilians inhabitants of
the town. The Trial Chamber finds that General Krstic subscribed to the creation

the doctrine is best referred to as "joint criminal enterprise”, rather than "common
purpose” liability (Talic' Decision, para. 37). Furthermore, it is noteworthy that in
regard to responsibility for a crime falling outside the object of the joint
enterprise, the Talic' Decision explains that the requirement that such a crime be a
"natural and foreseeable” consequence of the execution of the enterprise, "is an
objective element of the crime, and does not depend upon the state of mind on the
part of the accused". The requirement that the accused was aware that the
commission of such a crime was a possible consequence of the execution of the
enterprise, "is the subjective state of mind on the part of the accused which the
prosecution must establish."” Talic' decision, para. 30 (emphasis in original).
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of a humanitarian crisis as a prelude to the forcible transfer of the Bosnian

Muslim civilians. This is the only plausible inference that can be drawn from his
active participation in the holding and transfer operation at Potocari and from his
total declination to attempt any effort to alleviate that crisis despite his on the

scene presence. _
616. The Trial Chamber is not, however, convinced beyond reasonable doubt

that the murders, rapes. beatings and abuses committed against the refugees at
Potocari were also an agreed upon objective among the members of the joint
criminal enterprise. However, there is no doubt that these crimes were natural
and foreseeable consejuences of the ethnic cleansing campaign. Furthermore,
given the circumstances at the time the plan was formed, General Krstic' must
have been aware that an outbreak of these crimes would be inevitable given the
lack of shelter, the density of the crowds, the vulnerable condition of the
refugees, the preserce of many regular and irregular military and paramilitary
units in the area aad the sheer lack of sufficient numbers -of UN soldiers to
provide protection. In fact, on 12 July, the VRS organised and implemented the
transportation of the women, children and elderly outside the enclave; General
Krstic' was himself on the scene and exposed to firsthand knowledge that the
refugees were being mistreated by VRS or other armed forces.

617. In sum, the Trial Chamber finds General Krstic' guilty as a member of a
joint criminal enterprise whose objective was to forcibly transfer the'Bosnian
Muslim women, children and elderly from Potocari on 12 and 13 July and to
create a humanitarian crisis in support of this endeavour by causing the
Srebrenica residents to flee to Potocari where a total lack of food, shelter and
necessary services would accelerate their fear and panic and ultimately their
willingness to leave the territory. General Krstic' thus incurs liability also for the
incidental murders, rapes, beatings and abuses committed in the execution of this
criminal enterprise at Potocari. '

618. Finally, General Krstic' knew that these crimes were related to a widespread
or systematic attack directed against the Bosnian Muslim civilian population of
Srebrenica; his participation in them is undeniable evidence of his intent to
discriminate against the Bosnian Muslims. General Krstic' is therefore liable of
inhumane acts "*¢” and persecution"**® as crimes against humanity.

(b) General Kirstic"s criminal responsibility for the killing of the military-aged
Muslim men from Srebrenica

'619. The Trial Chamber has made findings that, as of 13 July, the planto

(1367) Forcible transfer - count 8 .
(1368) Murder, and cruel and inhumane treatment (including terrorisation, destruction of

personal property and forcible transfer) - count 6.
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ethnically cleanse the area of Srebrenica escalated to a far more insidious level
that included killing all of the militaryaged Bosnian Muslim men of Srebrenica.
A transfer of the men after screening for war criminals the purported reason for
their separation from the women, children and elderly at Potocari - to Bosnian
Muslim held territory or to prisons to await a prisoner exchange was at some
point considered an inadequate mode for assuring the ethnic cleansing of
Srebrenica. Killing the men, in addition to forcibly transferring‘ the women,
children and elderly, became the object of the newly elevated joint criminal
enterprise of General Mladic' and VRS Main Staff personnel. The Trial Chamber
concluded that this campaign to kill all the military aged men was conducted to
guarantee that the Bosnian Muslim population would be permanently eradicated
from Srebrenica and therefore constituted genocide.

620. The issue that remains to determine is whether General Krstic' was a
member of the escalated joint criminal enterprise to kill the military-aged men
and whether he thus incurred responsibility for genocide, including the causing
of serious bodily and mental harm to the few men surviving the massacres. In
this respect, the Trial Chamber will discuss the relationship between Article 7(1)
and Article 4(3), and between "genocide" in Article 4(3)(a)"*” and the
alternative allegation of "complicity in genocide" in Article 4(3)(e)."*" The
Trial Chamber further will determine whether General Krstitc' also incurs
responsibility for the other crimes constituted by the Kkillings, that is,
persecutions,>”” extermination*”? and murder*™ as crimes against humanity,
and murder as a violation of the laws or customs of war."*’¥ Lastly, the Trial
Chamber will consider whether the evidence suggests that General Krstic' incurs
command responsibility for the crimes

alleged under Article 7(3).

i) Participation in the genocidal joint criminal enterprise to kill the milita

men ;
621. The Trial Chamber has concluded that General Krstic' was involved in

organising the buses for the transportation of the women, children and elderly
from Potocari throughout 12 July. He .

personally saw that the military-aged men were being segregated at Potocari and
that they were being detained at the White House in sordid conditions. He must
have observed, further, that contrary to General Mladic"s statement at the Hotel

(1369) Count 1 of the Indictrnent.
(1370) Count 2 of the Indictment.
(1371) Count 6 of the Indictment.
(1372) Count 3 of the Indictment.
(1373) Count 4 of the Indictment.
(1374) Count 5 of the Indictrnent
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Fontana meeting, no genuine efforts were taking place to screen the men

for war criminals. General Krstic' knew, also on 12 July, that the buses exiting
from Potocari were being stopped at Tisc'a where any men who had managed to
get aboard were pulled o-¥ and taken to detention sites.”*™ on 13 July, when he
was preparing the militacy operation at Zepa which commenced the next day,
General Krstic' found out that thousands of Srebrenica men fleeing in the column
through the woods tow:rd Tuzla had been captured on the territory of the Drina
Corps. As the then Coras' Chief of Staff, "the primary Coordinator of the Corps'
activities","*’® Genera. Krstic' must have been aware that no adequate measures
were being taken to provide for shelter, food, water and medical care for several
thousand captured men and that no arrangements or negotiations were ongoing
for their prisoner-of-war exchange.*””

622. On that basis alone, the Trial Chamber must conclude that, by the evening
of 13 July at the latest, General Krstic' knew that the Muslim men were being
executed at a number of separate sites and that none had been allowed to enter
government held territory along with the women, children and elderly. General
Krstic' could only surmise that the original objective of ethnic cleansing by
forcible transfer had turned imto a lethal plan to destroy the male population of
Srebrenica once aad for all. ’

623. In terms oF General Krstic"s participation in the killing plan, the evidence
has established that, from 14 July onwards, Drina Corps troops took part in
killing episodes. The facts in relation to the Drina Corps' participation at each
site may be summarised as follows:

- Zvomik Brigade units scouted for sites at Orahovac presumably to be used for
detention and execution on 13 and 14 Ju]y;(lm) furthermore, Zvornik Brigade
personnel were present at Orahovac immediately prior to, and during the
killings; Zvornik Brigade military equipment was engaged in tasks relating to the
burial of the victims from Orahovac between 14 and 16 July;*"

- Drivers and trucks from the 6'h Infantry Battalion of the Zvornik Brigade were

(1375) Supra, para. 470. )

(1376) Richard Butler, VRS Corps Command Responsibility Report, Section Two, para.
2.6 (P401). In his Report, Prosecution military expert Mr Butler refers to, amongst
others, para. 66 of the JNA Rules for Land Forces Corps (Provisional) (P402/4)
and Article 11 of the INA Regulations on the Responsibilities of the Land Army
Corps Command in Peacetime (P402/10). on the applicability of these instrurents
of the former Yugoslav National Army to the Army of Republika Srpska, see
Infra. On the responsibilities of the VRS Corps Chief of Staff, see also the
testimony of Prosecution military expert General Dannatt, T.5578.

(1377) Supra paras. 363-379, 465-472.

(1378) Supra paras. 220-225

(1379) Supra para. 449.
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used to transport the prisoners from the detention site at Petkovci Dam to the
execution sites on 15 July; the Zvornik Brigade Engineer Company was assigned

to work with earthmoving equipment to assist with the burial of the victims from

Petkovci Dam;("*%%

- Members of the Bratunac Brigade. assisted in the killings on the site of the
Branjevo Farm on 16 July; Drina Corps military police were engaged in
guarding the Muslim prisoners in the buses that took them from several detention
places to the Farm and Zvornik Brigade equipment was engaged in activities
relating to the burial of the victims; Colonel Popovic', the Drina Corps' Assistant
Commander for Sec